

Out-of-Home Care (OOHC) and Homelessness in Victoria

BRIDGE IT'S RESPONSE TO THE FEDERAL
GOVERNMENT'S DISCUSSION PAPER FOR THE 10YEAR NATIONAL HOUSING AND HOMELESSNESS PLAN

BRIDGE IT

SUBMITTED OCTOBER 20, 2023





Acknowledgement of Country

Bridge It proudly acknowledges the people of the Yalukut Willam

Clan of the South-East Kulin Nations, the Traditional Owners of the
land on which we meet, work, and play. We pay our respects to

Elders, past and present, and recognise that Australia always was
and always will be Aboriginal Land. Bridge It values diversity and is

committed to providing inclusive support.





Table of Contents

A Brief Overview of Bridge It and Our Cocoon Program	3
Our Mission	3
Bridge It's Values	3
The Cocoon Program	3
Outcomes for The Cocoon Program's Pilot Year	4
Messages from Young People we have Supported	5
The Cocoon Program Expansion	6
A Summary of Bridge It's Key Messages in Response to the Federal Government's D Paper for the 10-Year National Housing and Homelessness Plan	
A Literature Review of the Key Drivers of Homelessness for Young People Leaving O	
Introduction	
Relevant Ethical Considerations	8
Background: Out-of-home Care and Homelessness	9
Drivers and Interrelated Factors of Homelessness in the OOHC Population	9
Employment and Affordability	9
Lack of Affordable and Adequate Housing Options, and Housing Support Servi	ces 10
Lack of Adequate OOHC-Specific Housing Support Options	10
Mental Health as a Driver for and Result of Homelessness for the OOHC Popular	tion 11
Lack of Community and Connectedness	13
Inadequate Youth-Spe <mark>cific S</mark> ervices	13
Conclusion	14
References	15





A Brief Overview of Bridge It and Our Cocoon Program

Our Mission

To end youth homelessness by providing homes, community and support so young people can lead independent lives.

Bridge It's Values

We believe...

Community is critical. To thrive, we need others as humans crave connection and belonging. Bridge It creates community.

People are the experts in their own lives. People know how they feel and what they've been through and are the ones who can say what they need. We trust them, provide flexible support, and go on their journey with them.

Home is a human need. Everyone needs a safe space that offers stability and serenity; without it, we can't thrive in other areas of our life.

Everyone has worth and value. We support and motivate residents to reach their goals by focusing on what they can do instead of what they can't.

The Cocoon Program

Through the Cocoon Program, Bridge It – a not-for-profit charity that formed in 2021 – creates supported, high-quality, safe, and affordable housing opportunities for young people aged 17-25, who are transitioning out of the out-of-home care system and into independent adult life. As an organisation, Bridge It is committed to addressing the need for change in the way leaving out-of-home-care support is provided in order to end the high rates of homelessness and the other poor outcomes that young people leaving the out-of-home-care system continue to experience (Mendes & McCurdy, 2020).

Through Bridge It's partnerships with HousingFirst – a community housing provider – and other organisations committed to ending homelessness, our Cocoon program provides high-quality housing that is affordable, safe, and also beautiful and homely to our residents. This is a core element of Bridge It's programs, as we believe that



people need a 'home' that provides stability and serenity and not just 'housing' in order to truly have the opportunity to heal and thrive in other areas of their lives.

The Cocoon program offers a range of services onsite.

- Our skilled team provides one-on-one case management support.
- Peer mentoring from a Lived Experience worker.
- Supported referral opportunities to employment and education pathways.
- Wellbeing activities, including walking groups and access to the PCYC gym.
- Community-building activities, including shared meals and birthday celebrations.
- Life and living skills groups, such as learning to cook.

The support that we provide is client-centred, strength-based, and tailored to the individual; Bridge It fundamentally believes that the people we support are the experts in their own lives. Additionally, Bridge It believes creating community is a critical element in supporting young people and, subsequently, we run a groups program with the input of our residents and lived experience Peer Support Worker, Sam.

Half of our team has lived experience of mental health conditions, neurodiversity, or the criminal justice system. We continue to adapt our model of support through engagement with our residents, with co-design and feedback processes being essential elements in ensuring that we are accountable and meet the needs of the people we support.

Outcomes for The Cocoon Program's Pilot Year

Bridge It's Cocoon program recently concluded its first successful pilot year, during which the program provided accommodation and support to seven young people at our St Kilda site. An external evaluation undertaken by Social Ventures Australia focused on documenting the program model, evaluating the short-medium term outcomes, capturing key lessons, and understanding the program's cost.

The evaluation reported the following key findings in relation to The Cocoon program:

- The Cocoon Program is achieving its intended short- and medium-term outcomes.
- Residents have access to a stable home, are developing life skills, learning about healthy relationships, stabilising their mental health, entering work or study, and working towards life goals.





- 9 young people found a home and community at The Cocoon in its first year of operation.
- 4 people commenced work for the first time.
- 3/3 residents who engaged in high-risk AOD use have reduced their usage, 4
 re-engaged in education, 1 has continued existing education 8/9 of those
 experiencing mental health challenges are feeling a little or a lot better.
- All of those who exited The Cocoon are living in housing options of their choice.

Messages from Young People we have Supported

"It wasn't long before I realised that in residential care, you come out more damaged than you went in. It's long-term effect on me has been anxiety, I was in residential care three years ago and that anxiety has never left me.

I think the system is so totally broken and needs to be completely changed to keep children like me safe. The Cocoon is a good pathway to rectify this issue and help set people on a good pathway for their future.

In the last 12 months, I have gained employment, I started courses in and I have developed friendships that are possibly lifelong with people who understand and support me."

"The Child Protection system doesn't protect children, it further traumatises them. The case managers have so much work that they don't have time to keep children safe. I feel like there needs to be more funding and housing available for people affected by family violence and more government funding towards child protection so that they would have more capacity to support families like mine.

The Cocoon is place where you can remake your own friends and family. Living at the Cocoon has allowed me to focus on my mental health without being judged and to live and work at my own pace.



There is no judgment or unhealthy expectations from the community. I really love the openness and kindness of the community and I love getting together for cooking groups.

I am more hopeful for the future, I'm doing a traineeship as a and I am looking forward to studying to support lots of people in the future."

"I was continually passed through different foster care homes and never felt loved. I'm mature for my age because I had to grow up quickly. When I was 16, I was put into accommodation that is called "lead tenant" which is rental property where I was supposed to be living with an adult, but he was never there. I had the house broken into and everything stolen, it was so scary.

Now I am living at a management, and I am completing my and I am completing my and I have also recently finished a course and I have been offered a job. I'm currently learning how to drive. I feel safe and supported and like I have a real home.

The Cocoon has offered me a safe and cosy space to be able to let my walls down and enjoy doing the little things in life. I have grown so much as a person in the past few months and having a little support group by my side."

The Cocoon Program Expansion

After securing a long-term lease donation of a second building site in Sandringham, Bridge It is currently working to finalise approximately \$2 million dollars in additional pro-bono building, consulting, and other resources. These resources will enable Bridge It to expand its current St Kilda site and renovate the new Sandringham location, subsequently allowing for The Cocoon program to provide accommodation and support for up to twenty-eight young people leaving OOHC or homelessness at one time.





A Summary of Bridge It's Key Messages in Response to the Federal Government's Discussion Paper for the 10-Year National Housing and Homelessness Plan.

How can governments and community service providers reduce homelessness and/or support young people who have experienced the OOHC system and are at risk of becoming homeless?

- Increase the amount of supported, affordable, high-quality, and long-term housing that is also suitable for the specific needs of young people leaving OOHC.
 - The literature points to a need for longer-term quality accommodation, offering individually tailored supports in a therapeutic environment (Martin et. al., 2021, p. 67).
 - Providing high quality, affordable, and supported housing to young people is a key element in addressing the issues of homelessness and mental ill health for young people who have experienced the OOHC system.
 - It also suggests housing and support be provided in smaller groups and therapeutic settings – as accommodating large groups of people with complex support needs and inadequate support can lead to further traumatic experiences (O'Donnell et al., 2014, p. 39).
- Create, fund, and expand housing and homelessness services that provide services tailored to the specific needs of young people who have experienced OOHC.
 - Young people who have experienced the out-of-home-care system are less likely to seek support from services when experiencing housing stress or homelessness (Bender et al., 2018; Erangey et al., 2022). This is reportedly because they have developed an adaptive distrust of inflexible service systems that do not value their input and autonomy and are not set up to respond to their unique needs.
 - While there is a lack of academic literature on the subject of Peer Support and Co-Production relevant to the homelessness sector, some studies, as well as Bridge It's Cocoon Program, suggest that services incorporating Peer Support and Co-Production processes into their models are better placed to respond to the unique needs of young people who have experienced OOHC (Roper, Grey & Cadogan, 2018; Mollica et al. 2022).





A Literature Review of the Key Drivers of Homelessness for Young People Leaving OOHC in Victoria

Introduction

According to the Australian Census data from 2021 (Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, 2023), young people aged between 12-24 years old are more likely to experience homelessness than any other age group, constituting 23 per cent of people experiencing homelessness in Australia. With homelessness being defined as sleeping rough, temporary accommodation, couch surfing, crisis accommodation, as well as boarding houses and cheap motels (Clare, Anderson, Bodenham, & Clare, 2017, p. 10). For the approximately 46,212 young people who are part of the out-of-home care (OOHC) system in Australia, the problem of homelessness is even more severe due to the unique challenges and vulnerabilities faced by this cohort (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2022).

Bridge It has prepared a literature review that aims to delve deeper into the multifaceted issues contributing to homelessness among young people transitioning from the OOHC system in Australia. This review aims to examine key drivers, interrelated factors, and potential solutions to address the critical issue of homelessness for young people who have experienced OOHC. Specifically, it will explore the roles of employment, housing affordability, housing support services, mental health, community connectedness, and the adequacy of support services in shaping the housing outcomes of care leavers.

By analysing key literature, this review aims to inform future policies and interventions that can better facilitate a seamless transition from care to independent living and address the drivers of homelessness for the OOHC cohort in Victoria, Australia.

Relevant Ethical Considerations

Australia is party to various international human rights treaties such as the Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1966), The International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1966), and the Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989). As a result, it has both a legal and moral obligation to uphold the rights of individuals who are experiencing homelessness (Australian Human Rights Commission, 2008). These treaties outline the right to adequate housing, personal safety, and access to healthcare, among other rights, all of which are in direct conflict with the experience of homelessness (Australian Human Rights Commission, 2008).





Bridge It believes it is ethically pertinent that services prioritise recognising and respecting the inherent dignity, worth, and rights of all individuals and groups to practice within a social justice and human rights framework. This literature review aims to uphold these ethical obligations by promoting an understanding of systemic barriers and inequalities that exist in society for the OOHC cohort, in order to develop strategies to challenge and dismantle them to promote equitable opportunities and outcomes for the OOHC cohort.

Background: Out-of-home Care and Homelessness

Research conducted by Collins & Augsberger (2021), Martin et al. (2021), and Strahl et al. (2020), shows that young people leaving out-of-home care (OOHC) have much higher rates of homelessness, criminal justice system engagement, and welfare service usage than non-care leavers (Martin et al., 2021, p. 29). Martin et al. (2021, p. 33, 35) reported that out of 1,848 care leavers surveyed, more than half experienced homelessness within four years of leaving care (Martin et al., 2021, p. 3). Moreover, a survey conducted in 2015 of 298 care leavers found that 63 per cent had experienced homelessness (Martin et al., 2021, p. 11). Importantly, even when care leavers obtained accommodation, research indicates it was often transitory or unstable, with one study reporting an average of five different living arrangements per year as reported by a sample of 202 care leavers in a survey conducted in 2018 (Muir & Hand, 2018, p. 4; Martin et al., 2021, p. 11).

To further describe the OOHC system, Victoria offers four primary types of OOHC models: foster care, kinship care, residential care, and lead tenant arrangements. These models involve placing children or young people in settings outside of their family of origin after state intervention due to abuse, neglect, or other reasons (Monson, Moeller-Saxone, Humphreys, Harvey, & Herrman, 2020, p. 1026-1027). At age 18, most care leavers must exit these OOHC models, and – in Victoria – are subsequently provided with support to do so through programs such as Better Futures. At age 21, this support ceases, and OOHC leavers are no longer eligible for support through Better Futures.

Drivers and Interrelated Factors of Homelessness in the OOHC Population

Employment and Affordability

Care leavers often face difficulties in finding and maintaining employment, which forces them to rely on inadequate income support payments for long periods of time (Martin et al., 2020, p. 11). Lack of or difficulty sustaining employment, in turn



reduces housing options and affordability. For example, according to research conducted by Mendes et al. (2020), young people leaving (OOHC) struggle to secure employment due to various factors such as transience and insecure housing, physical and mental health issues, and the need to develop independent living skills. Martin et al. (2021) (p.11) reported that 60% of 1,848 care leavers surveyed were unemployed and dependent on Centrelink payments, specifically Centrelink Youth Allowance payments, which are currently \$390 below the poverty line per week (Davidson, Bradbury & Wong, 2023, p.12).

Lack of Affordable and Adequate Housing Options, and Housing Support Services

Young people who leave the OOHC system face a challenging housing landscape, which has been identified as a significant contributor to the poor housing outcomes for care leavers in existing literature (Martin et al., 2021, p. 12; Mendes et al., 2020; Turnbull et al., 2021, p. 13). Australia has allowed its public and community housing stock to decrease by half over the last 30 years, despite rising rents and increasing demand for affordable housing (Pawson & Lilley, 2022). For instance, in Victoria, the waiting list for affordable public and community housing increased by 45 per cent between June 2018 and June 2022 (Kolovos, 2023). Additionally, a snapshot of affordability in March 2022 revealed that out of 45,992 listings nationwide, only one private apartment was affordable for young people receiving Centrelink Youth Allowance payments (Anglicare, 2022). Additionally, Victorian housing support services are unable to meet the demand for housing support. For example, between 2020-2021, Victorian housing services turned away 133 people each day and were only able to assist 38 per cent of people seeking housing support (Council to Homeless Persons, 2022).

Lack of Adequate OOHC-Specific Housing Support Options

In Australia, there exist several service models that offer housing and support to the OOHC population. These models vary in their orientation, scope, and techniques. Few of them prioritise housing as a prerequisite for achieving stability and other favourable outcomes, a principle known as the Housing First approach (National Youth Commission Australia, 2020). Research findings from abroad support the Housing First model's effectiveness (National Youth Commission Australia, 2020).

Research has also identified conditions likely to lead to successful housing outcomes for the OOHC cohort. It points to a need for longer-term quality accommodation, offering individually tailored support in a therapeutic environment (Martin et. al., 2021, p. 67). It suggests support and accommodation should be provided in smaller groups – as accommodating large groups of people with complex support needs





and inadequate support can lead to further traumatic experiences (O'Donnell et al., 2014, p. 39). There are a handful of models servicing this need in Australia that adopt these features and have had promising evaluations, including *Youth Foyers* and Uniting's *Extended Care Pilot Program*, but they vary in their scale and approach and are relatively new (Brotherhood of St Laurence, 2019; Uniting, 2022). Academic literature continues to report an overwhelming lack of adequate, affordable, and supported accommodation options for young people exiting from OOHC, however (Martin et. al., 2021, p. 67).

Mental Health as a Driver for and Result of Homelessness for the OOHC Population

In the context of Victoria, Australia, there were 603 clients of Specialist Homelessness Service (SHS) per 100,000 population in the year 2018-19, who were struggling with current mental health issues (Chikwava, O'Donnell, Ferrante, Pakpahan, and Cordier, 2022, p. 4). This rate is noticeably higher than the national rate of 393 SHS clients per 100,000 population in the rest of Australia, as reported in (Chikwava, O'Donnell, Ferrante, Pakpahan, and Cordier, 2022, p. 4). More specifically for young people, mental health issues of up to 75% have been reported - when including alcohol and drug use disorders - in previous studies among young people experiencing homelessness (Chikwava, O'Donnell, Ferrante, Pakpahan, and Cordier, 2022, p. 4).

Adverse childhood experiences, such as exposure to abuse or neglect from a parent or caregiver, exposure to family violence, familial substance use and/or mental illness, parental separation or divorce, and parental incarceration, have been identified as risk factors for future mental illness (Mendes & Chaffey, 2023, p. 4). These factors are also those that commonly lead to young people entering the OOHC system, a system in which children and youth commonly experience placement instability, varied quality of supports, and exposure to further abuse by caregivers or other adults (Mendes & Chaffey, 2023, p. 4).

Research confirms a link between mental health and experiencing the OOHC system, with studies demonstrating that children in OOHC experience higher rates of mental health issues, such as depression and anxiety, compared to those who grow up in stable homes (Monson et al., 2020, p. 1027). Longitudinal data supports these findings, with a study of 669 adults who received care as children between 1930 and 1989 finding over 70% had undergone mental health treatment in the past, 65% reporting having experienced suicidal ideation, and 39% having attempted suicide (Mendes & Chaffey, 2023, p. 8).

Findings from the United States echo this information, with adolescents in equivalent OOHC systems found to be four times more likely to attempt suicide than their non



OOHC counterparts (Katz, Busby, & McCabe, 2020, p. 612). Out of the 19,430 participants in this study, more than a quarter reported experiencing suicidal ideation. Additionally, 15.3% of the participants had attempted suicide in the past year (Katz, Busby, & McCabe, 2020, p. 612).

Furthermore, young people in Australia leaving OOHC have usually experienced transience or unstable housing arrangements prior to commencing their transition out of the OOHC sector, with many young people experiencing numerous types of OOHC models and several placements. In Victoria, one-third of the children who were placed in OOHC settings had experienced 10 placements (in either foster, residential or other OOHC settings; Ainsworth & Hansen, 2015). In Queensland, the median number of placements (in foster care or other settings) for young people before being placed in a residential care facility was found to be four per child (Ainsworth & Hansen, 2015). Findings have indicated that placement quality and stability assist in developing and sustaining good mental health for the OOHC population (Monson et al., 2020, p. 1033; Mendes & Chaffey, 2023, p. 8-9). Subsequently, instability and transience are here described as drivers for poorer mental health outcomes in the OOHC population.

Furthermore, accessing healthcare can be challenging for individuals in OOHC, due to various obstacles such as obtaining authorisation and consent, understanding their medical history, scheduling timely appointments, and covering the costs of services (McLean, Clarke, Scott, Hiscock, & Goldfeld, 2020, p. 8; McLean et al., 2022). Unfortunately, there are only limited funded initiatives that aim to support the most vulnerable groups, including those in the child protection system (Mendes & Chaffey, 2023, p. 4).

Subsequently, childhood trauma, housing instability, and homelessness are here identified as drivers for experiencing mental health issues. In addition to this, experiencing mental health issues can be seen in and of itself as a driver of homelessness for young people. For example, a study conducted in the United States found that out of a sample of 919 people, mental health issues were found to be a significant cause of youth-onset homelessness (Iwundu et al., 2020, p. 1). Subsequently, mental health can be seen as a critical issue impacting the poor housing outcomes for young people leaving the OOHC system. Providing high quality, affordable, and supported housing to young people is, therefore, a key element in addressing the issues of homelessness and mental ill health for young people who have experienced the OOHC system.





Lack of Community and Connectedness

Research has identified several factors that can be protective against future mental ill-health, such as family, community, and social support (Mendes & Chaffey, 2023, p. 4). However, these factors are often limited or inaccessible to the OOHC population (Mendes & Chaffey, 2023, p. 4; Rapee et al., 2019, p. 10). A study that thematically analysed interviews with 14 young people leaving OOHC (Monson et al., 2020) reported that participants who grew up in OOHC reported feeling stigmatised and that this was experienced as a barrier to accessing mental health support and creating community and connections (p. 1032). Young people in this study also reported that being part of community groups was beneficial as it helped them to feel accepted, develop their identity, and achieve their goals (Monson et al., 2020, p. 1032). While social belonging and connectedness are generally considered to be predictors of health and well-being for the general population (Ottmann et al., 2006, p. 44; Bower, Conroy, & Perz, 2018, p. 242), they are particularly important for young people who have experienced OOHC who are less likely to experience the benefits of community connectedness. Community connectedness has been described as an essential pathway to resilience in other relevant literature (Monson et al., 2020, p. 1032; Mendes, Johnson, & Moslehuddin, 2012, p. 357).

Inadequate Youth-Specific Services

As they transition out of the OOHC system, care leavers have, therefore, also experienced the child protection system in which, historically and culturally, children have been viewed as vulnerable and unable to define or contribute to their own well-being or safety (Powell, Anderson & Thomas, 2020, p. 1162). This responsibility is usually placed on parents or authority figures (Powell, Anderson & Thomas, 2020, p. 1162).

It is increasingly acknowledged that policies need to prioritise and centre the voices of children and young people. Critical social work literature highlights the importance of recognising children and young people as rights bearers (Powell, Anderson & Thomas, 2020, p. 1162). It is crucial to consider their agency in decisions that affect their safety, taking into account their age, circumstances, abilities, and experiences (Powell, Anderson & Thomas, 2020, p. 1162).

According to research conducted by Bender et al. (2018, p. 150) and Erangey et al. (2022, p. 1936), young individuals who have left the OOHC system are less likely to seek support from services when experiencing housing stress or homelessness. This is reportedly because they have developed an adaptive distrust of inflexible service systems that do not value their input and autonomy (Bender et al., 2018, p. 150; Erangey et al., 2022, p. 1936). Subsequently, support services that fail to respond to



the unique needs of young people and their reasons for not accessing services are, therefore, ill-equipped to provide support and assist young people to avoid or exit homelessness.

According to Bender et al. (2018, p. 160), findings suggest that homelessness support services wanting to better engage and provide support to young people must deliver flexible support that leaves young people feeling understood, respected, validated, and that their individual needs will be listened to and acted upon.

Co-production within support services may also be instrumental in efforts to better support young people's needs and ensure that they can participate in shaping the services on which they rely (Roper, Grey & Cadogan, 2018). By engaging young people in the co-production process, support services can be reshaped to better meet their needs.

In existing literature, peer support has been found to make a significant difference in ensuring that homeless youth feel respected and understood by service providers (Mollica et al., 2022, p. 2563). Peer support specialists have been found to encourage self-directed growth and offer hope to young people, which can be especially important for individuals who have experienced trauma (Mollica et al., 2022, p. 2564). Furthermore, unlike traditional support service approaches, peer support does not merely work towards program-directed outcomes that may not align with young people's needs or preferences (Mollica et al., 2022).

Conclusion

In conclusion, addressing the complex issue of homelessness for the OOHC cohort requires a comprehensive approach considering employment, housing quality, affordability, support service delivery methods and approaches, mental health support, community integration, and the involvement of care leavers in coproducing solutions. Policymakers, service providers, and communities must collaborate to develop and implement targeted interventions that prioritise the unique needs of this disadvantaged population. By addressing these challenges, Australia can work towards providing a smoother transition from care to independent living for the OOHC cohort, ultimately reducing the high prevalence of homelessness for this group.





idgeit

References

Australian Human Rights Commission. (2008). Homelessness is a human rights issue. https://humanrights.gov.au/our-work/publications/homelessness-human-rights-issue-2008#fn45

Anglicare Australia. (2022). Rental affordability snapshot: National report. Retrieved from https://www.anglicare.asn.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Rental-Affordability-Snapshot-National-report.pdf

Ainsworth, F., & Hansen, P. (2015). Therapeutic Residential Care: Different Population, Different Purpose, Different Costs. *Children Australia*, 40(4), 342-347. doi:10.1017/cha.2015.47

Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute. (2023). What Are the Real Costs of the Housing Crisis for Australia's Young People? AHURI. Retrieved on April 18, 2023, from https://www.ahuri.edu.au/analysis/brief/what-are-real-costs-housing-crisis-australias-young-people#:~:text=The%202021%20Census%20shows%20that,12%2D18.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2022). Child protection Australia 2020–21: Out-of-home care. Retrieved from https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/child-protection/child-protection-australia-2020-21/contents/out-of-home-care/how-many-children-were-in-out-of-home-care

Bender, K., Begun, S., Durbahn, R., Ferguson, K., & Schau, N. (2018). My own best friend: Homeless youths' hesitance to seek help and strategies for coping independently after distressing and traumatic experiences. *Social Work in Public Health*, 33(3), 149–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2018.1424062

Bower, M., Conroy, E., & Perz, J. (2018). Australian homeless persons' experiences of social connectedness, isolation and loneliness. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 26(2), e241–e248. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12505

Brotherhood of St Laurence. (2019). Education First Youth Foyers: Economic evaluation. https://library.bsl.org.au/bsljspui/bitstream/1/11370/1/KPMG_Education_First_Youth_Foyers_economic_evaluation_Jun2019.pdf

Chikwaya, F., O'Donnell, M., Ferrante, A., Pakpahan, E., & Cordier, R. (2022). Patterns of homelessness and housing instability and the relationship with mental health disorders among young people transitioning from out-of-home care: Retrospective cohort study using linked administrative data. *PloS One*, 17(9), e0274196–e0274196. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0274196



Clare, M., Anderson, B., Bodenham, M., & Clare, B. (2017). Leaving care and at risk of homelessness: The lift project. *Children Australia*, 42(1), 9–17. https://doi.org/10.1017/cha.2017.2

Council to Homeless Persons. (2018). Facts about Homelessness. https://chp.org.au/homelessness/

Davidson, P., Bradbury, B., & Wong, M. (2023). Poverty in Australia 2023: Who is affected. Poverty and Inequality Partnership Report No. 20. Australian Council of Social Service and UNSW Sydney.

Erangey, J., Marvin, C., Littman, D. M., Bender, K., Mollica, M., Milligan, T., & Lucas, T. (2022). How do peer support workers value self-directed growth over conventional change goals among young people experiencing homelessness? *Journal of Community Psychology*, 50(4), 1935–1951. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22649

International Federation of Social Workers (IFSW). (2018). Global Social Work Statement of Ethical Principles. Retrieved from https://www.ifsw.org/global-social-work-statement-of-ethical-principles/

Iwundu, C. N., Chen, T.-A., Edereka-Great, K., Businelle, M. S., Kendzor, D. E., & Reitzel, L. R. (2020). Mental illness and youth-onset homelessness: A retrospective study among adults experiencing homelessness. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(22), 8295–. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17228295

Katz, C. C., Busby, D., & McCabe, C. (2020). Suicidal behaviour in transition-aged youth with out-of-home care experience: Reviewing risk, assessment, and intervention. *Child and Family Social Work*, 25(3), 611-618. doi: 10.1111/cfs.number_1.

Lynch, P. (2004). Human Rights and the Supported Accommodation Assistance Program (SAAP). *Parity*, 17(1), 21–23. https://search-informit-org.ezproxy.lib.rmit.edu.au/doi/10.3316/informit.154294930413040

Marthinsen, E., Juberg, A., Skjefstad, N. S., & Michael Garrett, P. (2019). Social work and neoliberalism: The Trondheim papers. *European Journal of Social Work,* 22(2), 183–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691457.2019.1558795

Martin, R., Cordier, C., Jau, J., Randall, S., Thoresen, S., Ferrante, A., Chavulak, J., Morris, S., Mendes, P., Liddiard, M., Johnson, G., & Chung, D. (2021).

Accommodating Transition: Improving Housing Outcomes for Young People Leaving OHC. AHURI Final Report No. 364. Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited. https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/finalreports/364





McLean K., Hiscock H., & Goldfeld S. (2022). Timeliness and extent of health service use by Victorian (Australian) children within first year after entry to out-of-home care: Retrospective data linkage cohort study. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 134, 106359. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.rmit.edu.au/10.1016/j.childyouth.2021.106359

McLean, K., Clarke, J., Scott, D., Hiscock, H., & Goldfeld, S. (2020). Foster and kinship carer experiences of accessing healthcare: A qualitative study of barriers, enablers and potential solutions. *Children & Youth Services Review*, 113, 104976.

Mendes, P., & Chaffey, E. (2023). Examining the Mental Health Care Needs and Outcomes of Young People Transitioning from Out-of-Home Care (OOHC) in Australia. *Institutionalised Children Explorations and Beyond*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/23493003231182474

Mendes, P., & McCurdy, S. (2020). Policy and practice supports for young people transitioning from out-of-home care: An analysis of six recent inquiries in Australia. *Journal of Social Work*, 20(5), 599–619. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468017319852702

Mendes, P., Johnson, G., & Moslehuddin, B. (2012). Young people transitioning from out-of-home care and relationships with family of origin: An examination of three recent Australian studies. *Child Care in Practice*, 18(4), 357-370. doi: 10.1080/13575279.2012.713849

Monson, K., Moeller-Saxone, K., Humphreys, C., Harvey, C., & Herrman, H. (2020). Promoting mental health in out of home care in Australia. *Health Promotion Australia*, 35(5), 1026–1036. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daz090

Muir, S., & Hand, K. (2018). "Beyond 18: The Longitudinal Study on Leaving Care Wave 1 Research Report: Transition Planning and Preparation." Research Report. Australian Institute of Family Studies, Melbourne.

O'Donnell, M., Varker, T., Cash, R., Armstrong, R., Di Censo, L., Zanatta, P., Murnane, A., Brophy, L., & Phelps, A. (2014). The Trauma and Homelessness Initiative. Report prepared by the Australian Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health in collaboration with Sacred Heart Mission, Mind Australia, Inner South Community Health and VincentCare Victoria.

Ottmann, G., Dickons, J., & Wright, P. (2006). Social connectedness and health: A literature review. Gladnet Collection. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/gladnetcollect/471





Powell, M. A. et al. (2020). Child safety in policy: Who is being kept safe and from what? *Social Policy & Administration*. https://doi.org/10.1111/spol.12591

Rapee R. M., Oar E. L., Johnco C. J., Forbes M. K., Fardouly J., Magson N. R., & Richardson C. E. (2019). Adolescent development and risk for the onset of socialemotional disorders: A review and conceptual model. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 123, 103501. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.rmit.edu.au/10.1016/j.brat.2019.103501

Turnbull, L., Chavulak, J., & Mendes, P. (2021). What does Australian research tell us about best practice housing pathways for young people transitioning from out-of-home care? Parity, 34.

United Nations General Assembly. (1966). International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/ccpr.aspx

United Nations General Assembly. (1966). International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights.

https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/cescr.aspx

United Nations General Assembly. (1989). Convention on the Rights of the Child. https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx

Uniting. (2022). EXCP Evaluation 2021 Progress

Report. https://www.uniting.org/content/dam/uniting/documents/community-impact/research-and-

innovation/3_EXCP_Year_3_Evaluation_Progress_Report_2021.pdf

